097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA  
(Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,  
Complainant;

vs.

CONSOLIDATED CASE NUMBERS:

DAVID LAWRENCE SOLOMON  
Respondent.

86,914 ✓  
87,667 ✓  
88,762 ✓

**FILED**

STJ. WHITE

AUG 11 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

9/2

On a Petition for Review of Referee Donald F. Castor,  
from the County Court of the 13th Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough  
County, Florida.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted by:

*David Solomon*

David Solomon, Esquire FBN 368466  
880 Mandalay Avenue, Suite # N-911  
Clearwater, Florida 33767-1229  
(813)442-8600

Co-Counsel for Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent has represented clients pro bono who have been declared indigent by the courts and could not find any other lawyer to represent them. (T-627:4;494:2-495:6). Indeed, of the three (3) clients' cases for review by this Court, two of them were declared indigent, Fernandes, Keene, and Keene was pro bono. Many indigent clients are difficult to locate in time to file necessary documents without motioning for extensions of time. (T-629). Indeed, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an Order to Show Cause in the Keene case due to Respondent's inability to locate Ms. Keene in time to execute and file an affidavit. Likewise, the Second District Court of Appeal attributed the trial court's dismissal of the Fernandes case via summary judgment to the Respondent's inability to locate Ms. Fernandes in time to execute and file a cured affidavit before the original summary judgment hearing.

The Clerk of the Second District Court of Appeal informally requested that the Respondent file affidavits of indigency with the notice of appeal or shortly thereafter so the Second DCA would not have to send out their form order requesting the affidavit of indigency or filing fee. (T-593). Respondent immediately and willingly complied with this informal request to the best of his ability. (T-592:24-593:9). In the three following appeals filed by the Respondent, Mottne, Breen, and Anthony, the affidavit was filed before the notice of appeal (Mottne), eight (8) days after the notice of appeal (Anthony), and the Second District's form notice was mailed only six (6) days after the filing of the notice of appeal in Breen. (4/29/96 Bar Motion, also Tab #11).

The inability of the Respondent to locate Ms. Keene in time to execute and file her affidavit of indigency resulted in a show cause order, and also

resulted in the Second DCA going back and pulling all of the Respondent's files for the previous two and one half years, (T-317:23-25). This resulted in the opinion of Keene v. Nudera, 661 So.2d 40 (Fla.App.2 DCA 1995). This opinion was mailed to the Florida Bar with no request for action, and no statement one way or the other.(T-346:4-14). Following the mailing of the opinion to the Florida Bar, a man by the name of Joseph McFadden of the Florida Bar came and wanted to look at some of the files.(T-347:24).The Florida Bar thereafter looked at closed and pending files.(T-348:2).

The resulting two hundred seventeen (217) paragraphs in fifty-five (55) pages of complaints, contained four categories of alleged violations of the competence rule and of the diligence rule, to wit: (1) Respondent did not file an affidavit of indigency or filing fee with notice of appeals in eight (8) appeals, (2) Respondent timely filed motions for extension of time which were granted, (3) Respondent's pleadings contained all capital letters, and (4) Respondent's pleadings contained an abbreviated certificate of service.

On 6/25/93 the Florida Bar filed an earlier complaint containing twenty-eight (28) paragraphs in five pages, also alleging a violation of the competence rule. One of the cases in the earlier complaint was ~~re-litigated~~ in the later complaint. All of these four categories of alleged violations of the competence rule and diligence rule had also been present in the earlier disciplinary proceeding. The Referee in the earlier disciplinary proceeding found,

. ..Respondent's carelessness and errors, do not establish clear and convincing evidence of incompetence...

This previous Report of Referee was filed with the Respondent's motion to dismiss and strike various paragraphs on the grounds of res judicata and collateral estoppel. The motion was denied as to all matters except the capital letters. (Please see Tab #1).

After hearing testimony in the eight (8) cases, the Referee found the Respondent to be not guilty of any violations whatsoever of the competence rule nor the diligence rule for fully five (5) of the total of the eight (8) cases. In the Fernandes case the Referee found that the Respondent was guilty of three (3) separate and distinct violations of the competence rule. In the Keene case, the Referee found the Respondent to be guilty of only one (1) violation of the competence rule. In the Breen case the Referee found the Respondent to be guilty of only one (1) distinct violation that encompassed both the competence rule and the diligence rule. For the convenience of this Honorable Court, excerpts from the Referee's Report containing the Referee's findings of the five (5) distinct violations, ~~hereinafter~~ designated and referred to as violations one (1) through five (5), are found at Tab #2 of this brief. The specifics of the five (5) violations found by the Referee are as follows.

Violation #1 in the Breen case was the harm ("protracted litigation"/delay) the Respondent allegedly caused by staying the proceedings by the untimely filing of a Rule 9.130(f) interlocutory venue appeal. Please see Tabs #12-#13.

Violation #2 in the Keene case was the harm ("such practice was prejudicial to his client") the Respondent allegedly caused by the "unnecessarily explicit language" he used in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and in the Motion for Rehearing, to describe the client's 'sexual assault as a child. These two (2) motions were filed at the direction of the client (T-594:13-14, T-595:24-T-596:2) to protect the client from being compelled to comply with the trial court's discovery order to disclose in camera via her medical records, the "full extent" (T-594:13) of that ~~sexual assault~~. The client contended that medical records from her ~~sexual assault~~ medical providers were privileged by statute from disclosure, and additionally were irrelevant to her claim for neck and back injuries where she had not alleged emotional distress in her complaint. (Please see Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Motion for Rehearing, also found at Tab #11 of this brief). Please see Tabs #10-#11.

Violation #3 in the Fernandes case was the potential harm in a potential dismissal, effectively with prejudice, of the client's complaint for being filed in a venue that was not one of the three (3) statutory alternatives of F.S. §47.011 on the final day of the statute of limitations -- the day the client first contacted the Respondent. Please see relevant documents at Tab #8.

. Violation #4 in the Fernandes case was the harm ("delay and...harm in timely litigating") that the Respondent allegedly caused to the client's case by the passage of time/delay necessary to reverse an error of the trial court by successfully prevailing on appeal. The Referee found that the Respondent had "clearly contributed to the confusion surrounding the [trial court's] entry of the summary judgment", by the Respondent's inability to locate his indigent client before the original summary judgment hearing for her to timely execute and file her cured affidavit to oppose the summary judgment motion. The Referee's finding concurred with Judge Patterson's finding in the appellate opinion of Fernandes v. Boisvert, 659 So.2d 412 (Fla.App. 2 DCA 1995) that the original defective affidavit was in "disarray" which "clearly contributed to the confusion surrounding the entry of the summary judgment..." Please see Tab #3 of this brief containing (1) the cured affidavit, (2) the defective affidavit, (3) the original complaint. Please also see Tab #6 of this brief containing (1) the transcript of the summary judgment rehearing, (2) the ~~Order Granting Summary Judgment~~, (3) the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. Please also see Tab#7 of this brief containing the Index to the Record on Appeal 1. Please see relevant documents at Tabs #3-#7, and #14.

Violation #5 in the Fernandes case was the potential harm if the client was precluded from the recovery of any special damages in her action allegedly because the Respondent (1) failed to plead any special damages in the complaint, and (2) failing to immediately seek an amendment after Judge Patterson suggested the need for an amended complaint in his opinion in Fernandes v. Boisvert. Please see relevant documents at Tab #9.

Former Supreme Court of Florida Justice Frederick B. Karl testified that it was his opinion that the Respondent did not violate any ethical rules concerning competence nor diligence. Former Justice Karl also noted that while he was serving as a Justice on the Supreme Court of Florida, he was the Chairman of the Disciplinary Rules Committee, better known as the Karl Commission, which in effect rewrote the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. (T-679:6-11).

The present Chair of the Florida Bar Appellate Practice and Advocacy Section Raymond T. Elligett, Jr., Esq., testified that it was his opinion that the Respondent did not violate any ethical rules concerning competence nor diligence. (T-450:15-18).

Seven (7) clients, including Ms. Fernandes, testified to their satisfaction with the legal services and compassion provided by the Respondent. Six (6) of the seven (7) clients, including Ms. Fernandes, testified that they had searched but were unable to locate any other attorney willing to undertake representation of their causes. The seventh (7th) of the seven clients testifying was a pro bono matter, Ms. Diamond. Three (3) of the seven (7) were clients involved in the eight (8) cases before the Referee. All three (3) testified that they searched but were unable to locate any other attorney willing to undertake representation of their causes, to wit: Ms. Fernandes, Mrs. Flynn, Mr. Poole. Please see the relatively brief transcriptions of the testimony of six (6) of the (7) clients on Friday, December 13, 1996, at T-404-445. Ms. Fernandes' testimony was nine (9) days earlier on 12/4/96.

After all questions were concluded by all of the three (3) attorneys questioning Judge Altenbernd, Judge Altenbernd felt compelled to add the following opinion he had formed of the Respondent, (T-354:7-21),

MR. CORSMEIER: No further questions, Your Honor.

THE REFEREE: Anything else, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH: No, sir.

THE REFEREE: Mr. Greenberg?

MR. GREENBERG: No.

THE REFEREE: Thank you very much.

THE WITNESS: I'd like to be very clear and for you to know that I don't think he's done anything malicious. And I don't think there's any ill-will on his part to the Court.

And he's represented some people who needed a lawyer. I don't think that should be overlooked.

THE REFEREE: Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH: Thank you, Judge.

(The witness was excused.)

Respondent's Exhibit #8 is a 3/17/correspondence from the Lawyers Cooperative Publishing company requesting the Respondent to mail to them his pleadings from the case of Breen v. Huntley Jiffy Stores, Inc., 610 So.2d 29 (Fla.App. 2 DCA 1992) for possible publishing as forms sold to Florida lawyers for their use with regard to venue issues. For the convenience of this Honorable Court, this correspondence is also to be found at Tab #12 of this brief.

Hillsborough County Circuit Court Judge James D. Whittemore testified that he was the Judge presiding over the Breen case. Judge Whittemore testified that he had formed an opinion as a result of his presiding over the Breen case that the Respondent simply did not have a grasp of the legal issues concerning venue, which were the issues for his consideration in the Breen case. (T-187:20-21). Please note that Judge Gonzalez presided in Breen v. Huntley Jiffy Stores, Inc., and upon his retirement, Judge Whittemore then presided. Judge Whittemore was aware the the Respondent reversed an error of Judge Gonzalez concerning venue issues by successfully prevailing on appeal. This fact was considered by Judge Whittemore before rendering the above opinion.

Second District Court of Appeal Judge Chris W. Altenbernd's testimony concerning any sexual abuse matters in violation #2 in the Keene case was

stricken as irrelevant, however, Judge Al tenbernd did testify that it was his opinion that if there was evidence that Ms. Keene was agreeable to or knowledgeable of the limited disclosure of her personal matters versus total disclosure of her records, that might influence any potential harm that may have resulted to her. (T-324-332, T-340:4-11). For the convenience of this Honorable Court, this transcript excerpt is also to be found at Tab #10 of this brief.

Second District Court of Appeal Judge David F. Patterson testified as to violation #5 in the Fernandes case that: (1) the Respondent did not allege any special damages in the original complaint (T-9:20; T-9:24- T-10:3); (2) ~~that~~ the Respondent did allege special damages in the original complaint (T-28:2-5); (3) the Respondent 'did not allege any special damages in the original complaint (T-28:9-16); and concluded that (4) maybe the Respondent did allege special damages in the original complaint. (T-28:23-T-29:4). For the convenience of this Honorable Court please find at Tab #9 of this brief, (1) Judge Patterson's above referenced testimony on Rule 1.120(g) special damages, (2) Defendant Boisvert's Motion to Amend Affirmative Defenses, (3) Order on Defendant's Motion for Leave to Amend,\*(4) Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and Request for Jury Trial\* (subject to contemporaneously filed motion to file).

Hillsborough County Circuit Judge Robert H. Bonanno and Judge Patterson testified as to violation #4 in the Fernandes case concerning the Respondent reversing Judge Bonanno on an appeal in which Judge Patterson authored the DCA Opinion. For the convenience of this Honorable Court, the trial transcripts and documents that are relevant to this violation #4 are found at Tab#3 through Tab#7 of this brief, and Tab #14 of this brief. Fernandes v.

Boisvert remains a pending case in the Circuit Court for Pinellas County. The entire court file was admitted into evidence for consideration by the Referee at the Final Hearing of this matter for purposes of violations #3-#5 in the Fernandes case. Fernandes v. Boisvert is an active case, therefore, although the Referee had the benefit of the entire court file at the Final Hearing of this matter, the entire court file remains in the custody of the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, and is therefore not included in the Supreme Court of Florida file in Tallahassee concerning this disciplinary matter.

Judge Bonanno testified as to violation #4 in the Fernandes case concerning the original defective affidavit described by Referee and Judge Patterson as being in "disarray", and as to the amended cured affidavit upon which Judge Patterson reversed Judge Bonanno. Judge Bonanno testified no fewer than twenty-two (22) times that he had no independent recollection and could not remember whether he considered the cured affidavit or whether he did not consider the cured affidavit. Again, for the convenience of this Honorable Court, the testimony of Judge Bonanno referenced in the preceding sentence is found at T-17-19 of his testimony on 12/4/96, and is also to be found at Tab #4 of this brief.

Judge Bonanno throughout the course of his testimony on violation #4 in the Fernandes case repeatedly acknowledged that his Order granting summary judgment was reversed. Even while repeatedly acknowledging on the witness stand that his Order granting summary judgment was reversed by Judge Patterson, Judge Bonanno testified that he cannot recall whether at the time of the original summary judgment hearing that he granted the Defendant's motion for summary judgment because: (1) the Plaintiff's original

admittedly defective affidavit was not competent proof to be considered to rebut the Defendant's affidavit, or alternatively, that (2) even with a cured affidavit that the summary judgment was still appropriate because the Plaintiff's complaint would be unable to state a cause of action sufficient to withstand a motion to dismiss; (T-17:25-18:3, T-24:7-T-27:6). For the convenience of this Honorable Court, this transcript excerpt is also found at Tab #4 of this brief.

Judge Patterson's written opinion in Fernandes v. Boisvert at page 413 that, "Upon rehearing, the trial court declined to consider this [cured] affidavit and denied the motion." could only have been based upon the following three (3) documents in the record on appeal: (1) the transcript of the rehearing, (2) the Order Granting Summary Judgment, and (3) the Order Denying Plaintiff's Request for Reconsideration. For the convenience of this Honorable Court, these three documents are found at Tab #6 of this brief. Judge Patterson testified consistently with his written opinion that the reason Judge Bonanno erroneously granted the summary judgment was that Judge Bonanno erroneously declined to consider the cured affidavit on rehearing.

Judge Patterson also testified as to violation #3 in the Fernandes case concerning venue issues raised by F.S. §47.011, F. R. C. P Rule 1.140(b)(3), and F. R. C. P. Rule 1.060(b). Judge Patterson testified that because the Fernandes complaint was not filed in one (1) of the three (3) venue alternatives of F.S. §47.011 on the final day of the statute of limitations that it would not have been reversible error for the trial court to dismiss the complaint with prejudice, although the better practice is for the trial court to treat a Rule 1.140(b)(3) improper venue defense as a motion to transfer rather than a

motion to dismiss. (T-35:18-22). Judge Patterson testified that the caselaw would support a dismissal with prejudice but did not cite any such case. (T-35:18-22). The date of Judge Patterson's oral testimony was 12/4/96.

On 12/13/96, the Referee was advised of the fact that (1) Judge Patterson had authored the recent opinion of King v. Pearlstein, 592 So.2d 1176 (Fla.App. 2 DCA 1992) expressing in footnote 2 on page 1177 of that opinion in writing, the exact opposite opinion he expressed in his oral testimony, (2) Judge Patterson nor the Bar cited any such caselaw supporting a dismissal with prejudice, and (3) there exists no such case in Florida and if that were the result had this case not already been transferred, it would have been the first time such a dismissal would have been upheld on appeal. (T-375:8-11; T-379-380). For the convenience of this Honorable Court, at Tab #8 please find (1) the transcript (T-35-36) of Judge Patterson testifying that dismissal with prejudice to refile because of the statute of limitations may not be reversible error under the caselaw, (2) page 1177 of Judge Patterson's, King v. Pearlstein containing footnote #2 which expressing in writing an opinion contrary to the oral opinion expressed at trial, (3) 3/12/96 Notice of Hearing to Transfer Venue on complaint filed three (3) years and three (3) months earlier on 1/25/93, (4) 3/15/96 Order Transferring Venue.

To oppose the Respondent's arguments, the Bar cited to the Referee Gross v. Franklin, 387 So.2d 1046 (Fla.App.3 DCA 1980). (T-378:7). The Bar did not read the case into the record, however, in concluding on the interrelationship of Rule 1.140(b)(3) and Rule 1.060(b)(2), starting at the very bottom of page 1048, Gross v. Franklin holds,

Thus, Rule 1.060(b) merely vests authority in the court to transfer when a timely Rule 1.140 motion challenging venue [emphasis added] is made. Since transfer, not dismissal is the favored remedy for improper venue, James A. Knowles, Inc. v. Imperial Lumber Company, 238 So.2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970); [the other case cited by the Bar in opposition to the Respondent. Other citations omitted]...a Rule 1.140 motion to dismiss Csiel is, in effect, a motion to transfer.

The Referee's Report was executed on Thursday, January 2, 1997, including the assessment of costs against the Respondent without a hearing, in the amount of \$10,173.33 as incurred by the Bar for the prosecution of the Respondent in all eight (8) cases.

On Monday, January 6, 1997, the final day of the Referee's lengthy career on the bench, at the rehearing, the Respondent objected that (1) violations #1-#4 were not charged in the two hundred seventeen (217) paragraphs contained in the fifty-five (55) pages of complaints, (2) costs properly should not be assessed without a hearing, and (3) as Respondent was found not guilty by the Referee of two hundred sixteen (216) of the two hundred seventeen (217) paragraphs contained in the fifty-five (55) pages of complaints, the the apportionment of costs was the fairer and more just remedy, if indeed, any guilt was to be assessed against the Respondent.

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