IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

			(Before	a	Refer	ee)			
THE	FLORIDA BAI Complaina	•							097
vs. DAVII	LAWRENCE Respondent.	SOLOMON	/			CONSOLIDA 86 88	ATED CAS 5.914 87.667 3,762		FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 8 1997 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY Chief Deputy Clerk
	Or	n a Petitio	n for Re	evie	ew of	Referee	Donal d	F.	Castor.

from the County Court of the 13th Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida,

> RESPONDENT' S CROSS-ANSWER/REPLY **BRIEF**

Respectfully submitted by:

David Solomon, Esquire FBN 368466 880 Mandalay **Avenue**, Suite # **N-911** Clearwater, Floridd **33767-1229**

(813)442-8600

Co-Counsel for Respondent.

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

[ISSUE 41 #I-F (Tab #4:7), T-45-46 (Tab #5:6-7). Bar alleges expertsppinion wasobased upon incorrect information supplied by Attorney Solomon. Please see #I-F page 111:8-13 of Poole trial transcript. Attorney Jenkins objects that Attorney Solomon's interrogatories never asked for a safety manual. 111:9.

Attorney Solomon responds that two (2) finterrogatories, #12 and #41 asked for this information. Again, the Bar provides only Attorney Jenkins objection, and not Judge Padgett's ruling on Attorney Jenkins' objection. Again, the candor of the Bar to this tribunal is properly questioned. In tightaofice interrogatories #12 and #41, and the absence of Judge Padgett's ruling on this objection, the Bar has not established the Referee's findings of fact and conclusions concerning guilt are clearly erroneous and without competent substantial record support. (No finding on this matter-)

[ISSUE 5] #I-G (Tab 4:14-16), T-49-50 (Tab 5:8-9). Bar alleges incompetence because Attorney Solomon requested Judge Padgett instruct him on impeaching a witness. Please see T-188:25. Attorney Solomon properly started to lay a foundation to impeach, by stating, "I can ask you that right now." Poole was Attorney Solomon's first litigation matter, and he was easily rattled in this new territory. The fact remains Attorney Solomon was following F.S.§90.608(1), (Tab 4017) even though he was uncertain of himself. Furthermore,

the cited <u>Poole trial</u> transcript appears to have nothing to do with impeaching by documentary evidence. It appears to be involving a ruling the previous day concerning 8 year old records. Again, the Bar has not provided all relevant information ta determine what is transpiring concerning these 8 year old records, therefore the Referee's findings of fact (no finding on this matter) must be upheld.

IISSUE 63 Bar alleges incompetence because Attorney Solomon asked an improper question on the striking of a potential juror. #I-H, T-51-52(Tab 5:10-11). **Also see** T-130:18, T-137:6, T:137:11,T-509:21, and T-511:6, especially T-514:21. It is true Attorney Solomon asked an improper equestion. It is true Judge Padgett ruled mistrial based upon this question. However it is also true that both Judge Padgett and Attorney Solomon testified that at this noment they both were in the "heat" of the noment. T-137:11 (Tab 3:2). It is true that Judge Padgett testified that if he was not in the "heat" of the nonent, his was unsure if he would have granted the mistrial.(T-137:6)(Tab 3:2). Judge Padgett testified Attorney Solomon substantially improved Mr. Poole's case. (T-130:18) (Tab 3:1). Judge Padgett was also candid enough with the Referee to admit he was biased about this case. (T-130:4)(Tab 3:1 (line 4)). Eventually Judge Padgett voluntarily recused himself. Furthernore, the Bar has stipulated that it is not alleged that Attorney Solomon's actions resulted in the eventual defense verdict. (T-514:21) (Tab 3:6 (line 21)). It appears therefore that the Bar has stipulated; (please see Cunningham et seq. cited on page 27 re: stipulations) no harm to Poole due to Attorney Solomon's actions. This is consistent with the Referee's finding of no harm to Mr. Poole. A mistake does not equal incompetence. Mistakes in thealtheath of trial are made by lawyers and Judges. This is consistent with the testimony of Justice Karl, the only expert tendered in this proceeding on legal competence and the principles of professional discipline. Justice Karl testified making mistakes does not equate to incompetence and even a litary of insignificant

mistakes, no matter how many there are, will become an accumulation that constitutes incompetence. (T-690:9, T-697:21). Justice Karl properly reads competence Rule 4.5 to require potential or actual damage to clients to sustain a finding of incompetence. Although there was no real damage to the client in Florada Bar v. Littman 612 So.2d 582(Fla. 1993), this Honorable Court did find that Attorney Littman caused his client embarrassment. Although embarrassment is not ordinarily considered legal harm, it is not an experience people enjoy and is arguably a form of transitory harm. In light of the Bar's stipulation of no harm to Mr. Poole, Justice Karl's unrebutted testimony as a legal competence and professional discipline expert, and the litany of what Attorney Solomon did in preparation for this trial as found on page 3 of this brief, there is ample record support for the Referee's finding of no violation of competence with regard to this allegation of the Bar.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

0

[ISSUE 7] The Bar alleges Attorney Solomon's off color humor is incompetence. #I-I, T-58 (Tab 5:12). Poor humor has ho bearing on (1) an area of practice (suspension), nor (2)legal doctrines or procedures (pub1 ic reprimand), nor (3) negligence in determining competence to handle a legal matter (admonishment).

[ISSUE 8] The Bar alleges not providing an Order Setting Trial to Judge Ficanrotta is incompetence. (T-63-69) (Tab 5: 16-23). There is testimony that opposing counsel could not agree on a trial date, and Attorney Solomon promptly scheduled a hearing for Judge Ficarrotta to resolve 'that matter. (T-65:23) (Tab 5:18 line 23). Counsel unable to agree on a hearing date is not incompetence.

[ISSUE 9] The Bar alleges incompetence for not filing a pleading to inform the DCAra Petition for Certiorari is abandoned. (T-76) (Tab 5:23). It is not incompetent to abandon motions without filing a pleading advising the Court the motion is abandoned. It is a good practice, but if counsel is aware the motion will be dismissed if no action is taken, it is not incompetence to withdraw the motion by written pleading before it is otherwise dismissed.

[ISSUE 10] Similar to missue #9. Recusal motion abandoned therefore never perfected. Never scheduled for hearing. If it were scheduled for hearing, the additional requirements for recusal would have been met.(T-77-81)(Tab 5:24-28).

[ISSUE 111 Bar alleges incompetence for disclosing arbitrators award to Court. Court ruled no harm because Court is not trier of fact and will not decide liability nor damages.(T-530:1-3).

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

[ISSUE 12] Bar alleges incompetence for objecting to hearsay, articulating incorrect basis.(T-602:23). Bar stipulated to no harm in the Poole trial by Attorney Solomon's actions, therefore by stipulation suspension Rule 4.52 and public reprinand Rule 4.53 cannot apply. Failure to articulate the correct basis for a correct objection has no bearing in "determining competence to handle a legal matter [premises liability cause of action]."

ATTORNEY JENKINS FAILURE TO FOLLOW APPELLATE PROCEDURE BY UNTIMELY REQUESTING AND ADDITIONAL RECORD, is Attorney Solomon's incompetence. #I-R, Tab 4:18.

Please see page 5 of this brief. Factual statements sufficiently state argument.

Attorney Jenkins caused the record on appeal to be unavailable to Attorney Solomon.

Furthernore, in untimely requesting an additional record from the Court Reporter,

the Court Reporter is required to motion for an extension of time with the DCA

as per Rule 9.900. Such a motion for extension properly tolls the time in which
to serve appellate briefs in the DCA under Rule 9.300.

[ISSUE 14] Bar alleges unspecified errors in third Poole trial are incompetence. Unspecified errors cannot serve as a basis for a finding of guilt, noncreversing a Referee's finding of not guilty. Furthermore, in light of the extensive trial transcripts from the second Poole trial, the complete absence of any transcripts from the third Poole trial are conspicuous by their absence from this record.

Polk

•

•

•

•

•

•

P

•

•

•

•

•

0

[ISSUE 151 Bar alleges incompetence for filing an incorrect pleading and voluntarily withdrawing in perpense to a telephone call without any opposing pleadings being filed, nor any Court action required. Please see page 7 of this brief. Tab 5:42-44.)

[ISSUE 16] Bar alleges use of ellipses (. ..) and brackets ([Good norning]) in paraphrasing Order is incompetence. Please see page 8 of this brief. Facts can suffice for argument.

Breen

ISSUE 171 Bar alleges incompetence, band Referee finds incompetence based upon "protracted litigation" caused by the dismissal of the second Breen interlocutory venue appeal, pending for 39 days. Rule 9.130(f) provides interlocutory appeals in no way delay pending litigation. Referee's finding that a Rule 9.130 interlocutory appeal causes pending litigation to become "protracted", is erroneous as a matter of law, and therefore is without competent substantial record support, and therefore should be reversed. Florida Bar v. MacMillan, supra.

[ISSUE 181 Bar alleges failure to provide indigency affidavit or filing fee with notice of appeal is incompetence. Please see factual discussion of pages 15-16 of this brief under **Keene**. This allegation & repeated several times in altheight cases. This argument in issue 18 is incorporated by reference verbatim to apply to this issue, where ever it may be raised by the Bar.

[ISSUE 19] Baraalleges incompetence for filing timely motions for extensions of time which are granted by DCA. Likewise, this allegation is repeated several times in all eight cases, The following argument in issue 19 is incorporated by reference verbatim to apply to this issue, where ever raised by Bar. 9.300 authorizes filing timely motions for extensions of time.

[ISSUE 20] Bar alleges incompetence for Attorney Solomon's understanding of the legal doctrines and procedures applicable to venue based upon Judge Whittemore's testimony that Attorney Solomon was incompetent in his knowledge of venue principles, and did not have a "grasp" (T-187:21) of venue principles.

The Referee made no such finding and the following record evidence is competent substantial evidence to support the Referee not finding guilt with regard to Attorney Solomon understanding of venue, based upon Judge Whittemore's opinions. The twod (3) citems of evidence in this regard are (1) In Poole the premises liability negligence occurred in Polk county, yet because the **Defendant had** offices in Hillsborough County and nany physicians worked in Hillsborough County, Judge Padgett denied Attorney Jenkins Motion to Dismiss. (Poole file believed to have been in evidence at trial), (2) In Breen Attorney Solomon again displayed his understanding of the venue concept that even propen statutory venue need not necessarily be in the county in which the negligence occurred if the defendants have agents in other counties. In addition, in **Breen Attorney** Solomon displayed his understanding of the venue requirement that sufficient affidavits are required to sustain motions to transfer The resulting DCA opinion in the first Breen appeal drew national legal attention from Lawyers Cooperative Publishers. Please see Attorney Solomon's Trial Exhibit #8, the one page letter from Lawyers Cooperative Publishers requesting Attorney Solomon's pleadings in this **matter to be** published for the benefit **of** Florida practicioners. (3) Justice Karl opined (12/9/96 T-227:18- T-228:20) the exact opposite opinion of Judge Whittemore. Justice Karl opined **that contrary to** Judge Whittemore's assessment that Attorney Solomon has no "grasp" of venue principles, and is incompetent for his approach to venue, Justice Karl believes that Attorney Solomon's conduct with regard to venue is proof of a detailed

and sophisticated understanding of venue concepts. Even contrary to the Referee's finding, and Judge Patterson's testimony, Justice Karl testified that Attorney Solomon's understanding that inproper venue will at worst result in transfer rather than dismissal, is proof of review of the caselaw, and a thorough and sophisticated understanding of venue. Justice Karl opined that the casual observer to venue might conclude venue must be where the incident occurred, but Attorney Solomon's understanding that venue may be selected elsewhere without risk of dismissal, is proof of an understanding of venue that "inexperienced lawyers don't quite understand of comprehent". No disrespect to Judge Whittemore is intended, but Judge Whittemore may wish to reconsider his opinion, or at least the stridency of it, and consider the merits of Justice Karl's analysis.

Keene/Burdines

[ISSUE 21] Bar alleges incompetence because Attorney Solomon believes the Sanchez case decides the issue of absences, and not latenesses. The Bar contends Sanchez decides the issue of lateness, not the issue of absence. If determination of whether the issue decided in Sanchez determines competence, clearly either the Bar of Attorney Solomon are incompetent. Sanchez is found at Tab 3:14. Sanchez does cite four: (8) cases on lateness, but they are Louisiana, New York, and Pennsylvania cases. Bar alleges incompetence because Attorney Solomon claimed his Keene/Burdines case was one of first impression in Florida on lateness. Attorney Solomon asserted at trial that his position was unrebutted by the Bar. The Bar offerred Sanchez to rebut Attorney Solomon's assertion.

<u>Hurst</u>

[ISSUE 221 Bar alleges incompetence because motion to dismiss was denied. Factual statement on pages II-12 of this brief are offered as argument for this issue. Please see Tab #3:16-26.

Finley

[ISSUE 23] Similar to issue 15 in Polk, and issue 22 in Hurst. Motions filed are withdrawn/voluntarily dismisses when Attorney Solomon recognizes the merit of opposing counsel's position, or the motion otherwise is determined as one on which Attorney Solomon likely will not prevail. These determinations were made promptly by Attorney Solomon. Although on occasion Attorney Solomon will not have an opportunity to withdraw/dismiss such motions, (please see issue 9 in Poole, issue 10 in Poole) issue in Hall of Disciplinary Hearing) he tries to do so.

Keene

[ISSUE 24 AND 25] Please see issues 18 and 19 in Breen for indigency affidavits notifiedwat time of appeal, and timely motions for extension of time that are granted by DCA. Factual statements on spage 15-16-incorporated here as argument.

X KANNAKCHUMINUNUNUNUNUNUNUNUNUNUNUNUN KENANNAKU KENALUNUNUN MEN ATHUMEN Fennandesunun perengan kannakunun kannan kenannak

[ISSUE 261 Bar alleges incompetence because of the manner in which Attorney Solonon handled other motions besides the summary judgment motion, before Judge Bonanno.(72/4/96/1-20:18)(Tab 5:57 line 18). There were no other motions in <u>Fernandes.</u> Please see Index to **Record on Appeal** in Initial Brief Tab #7 for verification.

[ISSUE 27] Bar alleges incompetence, and Referee concurs for failure to allege any special damages in Fernandes complaint. Factual statement on page 1'6-17 of this brief are incorporated here as argument. It is

In addition, **Attorney** Solomon notes **the** substantial **change** in Judge **Patterson's** opinion on this issue **fine** his@direct examination **and** his **cross** examination

once he was shown paragraph 8 of the Fernandes complaint which spefically used the words "medical care" and "permanent injuries". Judge Patterson's testimony on direct examination was at (12/4/96 T-64:9±10).

...the most fundamental omission is the lack of **any** allegation as to special damages...

Judge Patterson's testimony on cross examination at (12/4/96 T-83:13-14)

I think that could be argued either way. All right?

It is respectfully submitted that Judge Patterson had the candor to recede from his erroneous opinion to some extent, but not enough to admit he simply overlooked the applicable language in the Fernandes complaint. No disrespect is intended to Judge Patterson. To the contrary, it is a mark of his candor that he receded so significantly from his opinion of cross examination. This line of argument must be brought to the attention of this Honorable Court, because Attorney Solomon's license to practice law is at stake based upon Judge Patterson overlooking the applicable language in the Fernandes complaint. Perhaps Judge Patterson believed the Referee would be dissuaded from imposing discipline by the radical change in his opin'ion from direct to cross, and significantly, as written in his DCA opinion. If this was Judge Patterson's intent, it did not come to pass at the Referee level. Judge Patterson's testimony should properly serve as a cautionary tale to the Judiciary as to the power of their testimony to significantly alter the course of a citizen's life.

[ISSUES 28 AND 29] Bar alleges incompetence, and Referee concurs, for venue selection and defective affidavit causing need for appeal. As the Bar has not raised any argument in there Answer brief besides conclusory statements

supporting the Referee's findings of guilt on these matters, Attorney Solomon will incorporate herecarguments on those subject in the factual section of this brief, and

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